THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CALHOUN COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

---

CASE NO.: 2013-001496

---

State of South Carolina, .....Respondent,

v.

David Jamar Benjamin, .....Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

James L. Goldsmith, Jr.  
Brownstone, PA.  
P.O. Box 2047  
Winter Park, Florida 32790-2047  
(855) 776-2773  
Attorney for Appellant

Donald J. Zelenka  
Office of the Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3601  
Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED

MAR 13 2014

SC Court of Appeals

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

**ISSUE ONE** - The Trial Court erred in not granting the Defendant's motion for directed verdict where the State failed to produce any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove Defendant Benjamin's guilt where the State:

- A. Failed to prove that but for the actions of Defendant Benjamin, the victim would not have died;
- B. Failed to prove Defendant Benjamin intended to kill the victim;
- C. Failed to prove Defendant Benjamin fired the fatal shot;
- D. Failed to prove Defendant Benjamin fired any of the shots that injured the surviving victims;
- E. Failed to prove Defendant Benjamin joined with another in carrying out a common plan or purpose, to wit, murder and attempted murder, sufficient to find Defendant Benjamin guilty under an accomplice liability theory;
- F. Failed to prove Defendant Benjamin was present at the scene as a result of a prior arrangement to carry out a prior arranged plan or common scheme sufficient to find Defendant Benjamin guilty under an accomplice liability theory in the wounding of Hampton and DeFreitas or the killing of Lawton.

**ISSUE TWO** - The Trial Court abused its discretion in denying Defendant's Motion for New Trial where there was insufficient evidence to support the jury's finding and where, as a matter of law, the State failed to produce substantial circumstantial evidence to support its accomplice liability theory to convict Defendant

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Defendant David Benjamin was arrested on October 4, 2011, and subsequently indicted by a Grand Jury charged with one count of murder in violation of S.C. Code 16-3-10 and two counts of attempted murder in violation of S.C. Code 16-3-29. Mr. Benjamin entered a plea of not guilty and proceeded to a trial before a jury on March 4, 2013.

Following a four-day trial during which Mr. Benjamin did not testify, a jury found Mr. Benjamin guilty on all counts. Trial Counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal following the verdict arguing the evidence was insufficient to prove Mr. Benjamin's guilt. This motion was denied after a hearing. The motion followed two unsuccessful motions during trial for a directed verdict, the first following the close of the State's case and the second at the close of all the evidence.

The Hon. Diane Schafer Goodstein sentenced Mr. Benjamin to 40 years' imprisonment on Count One – Murder, and 30 years' imprisonment on each of

Counts Two and Three – Attempted Murder, to be served concurrently. Mr. Benjamin was represented in his post-trial motions by Wendy Keifer, Esq., who filed and argued a timely motion for new trial and a timely motion to reconsider the sentence imposed upon Mr. Benjamin. Both motions were denied. Mr. Benjamin, through counsel, filed a Notice of Appeal on July 10, 2013.

Undersigned counsel was substituted as attorney of record. An application on behalf of Mr. Robert L. Sirianni, Jr., has been filed to permit his appearance *Pro Hac Vice*. The transcript of the trial proceedings was received by counsel on January 6, 2014, and this Initial Brief of Appellant follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### Introduction

Defendant-Appellant David Jamar Benjamin (“Mr. Benjamin”) was at the Pine Terrace Club, nicknamed “Piggy Park” in the late evening and early morning hours of September 18-19, 2011, with two others enjoying music and dancing provided by two disc jockeys. At one point, Mr. Benjamin was bumped on the dance floor by Dominique Lawton, who was present with a group of his friends at the same club. The two stared at each other but there was no physical confrontation.

At approximately 4 a.m., the club raised the lights and indicated it was closing down. A large crowd of people exited the club and was leaving the area. Lawton was intoxicated and confronted one of the people who had come to the club with Mr. Benjamin. All of the parties had weapons but there was no escalation until shots were fired in the air and then multiple shots were fired from all directions.

Several parties were involved in an exchange of gunfire and during the melee, Lawton was shot in the head and died. Two others, James Hampton and Shawn DeFreitas, were struck with bullets but survived. About two weeks after the event, Mr. Benjamin was arrested along with the two people he was with that evening and charged with the murder of Lawton and the attempted murder of

Hampton and DeFreitas.

There were dozens of people in the area at the time of the shootings but no one could say for sure who shot first or where the fatal shot came from. Further, no witnesses could say if the shots fired by Mr. Benjamin, which were described as on a low angle toward the ground similar to military-style “cover fire,” ever hit any of the victims. One witness who saw the fatal shot said Mr. Benjamin was not the person responsible. Another witness admitted that it was his shot, and not that of Mr. Benjamin, that ultimately wounded one of the victims. No one saw how, when, or from where the third victim was shot and wounded.

According to the State, Mr. Benjamin was responsible under a theory known as “the hand of one is the hand of all,” an accomplice liability theory where Mr. Benjamin would be held responsible for all of the shootings even though he never fired any of the shots that injured or killed the victims. The State contended that Benjamin was just as responsible as his co-defendants who actually did fire the shots, each of whom received reduced sentences after pleading guilty to significantly lesser charges.

One co-defendant was allowed to plead guilty to assault and battery and given a concurrent sentence of seven years in exchange for testifying against Mr. Benjamin at trial. The trial covered four days in early March 2013, before a jury of ten (10) women and two (2) men.

*The Parties Arrive at the Club*

Joshua Haggood, an Army veteran of two combat tours in Afghanistan, was stationed at Fort Bragg, North Carolina, in September of 2011. (Transcript p. 260). He was a long-time friend with Kevin Frazier and David Benjamin. He knew Mr. Benjamin “most of my life” and knew Mr. Frazier “since about middle school.” (Transcript p. 261). The men were two of Mr. Haggood’s “best friends.” (Transcript p. 262).

Mr. Haggood would typically travel once or twice a month from Fort Bragg back to Orangeburg, South Carolina, to visit. (Transcript p. 264). His mother lives there as does one of his sons. (Transcript p. 265). On his trips back, he carried with him an XD 40 .40 caliber silver and black semi-automatic pistol he borrowed regularly from a friend in North Carolina, a fellow soldier, Georgio McGarrah. (Transcript p. 264; 265).

Over the weekend of September 16 through September 18, 2011, Mr. Haggood was visiting and had the gun with him. He said normally he “hangs out” with Benjamin and Frazier when he visits when he is not visiting his mother or with his son. (Transcript p. 264). On Saturday night, September 18, 2011, Mr. Haggood met with his friends. He drove over to pick up Mr. Benjamin at his mother’s home and then the two drove to Mr. Frazier’s house to get him. (Transcript p. 266).

The trio was planning to go to a birthday party for Nevadria Miller, someone all had known from high school, at a club in the Elloree area called Pine Terrace but more commonly referred to as "Piggy Park." (Transcript p. 127; 268-269). For about 20 minutes, the trio stayed at Mr. Frazier's house and had a few beers. (Transcript p. 268). Mr. Haggood had not been to the club before and so Mr. Benjamin drove Mr. Haggood's car to the club "because he knew how to get there." (Transcript p. 269-270).

The three arrived between 12 a.m. and 1 a.m. (Transcript p. 270). Mr. Haggood's brother William was in another car with his cousin and arrived around the same time. (Id.) They backed in and parked near the corner of the club. (Transcript p. 271). There was a van already parked there so William backed in first and then Mr. Benjamin parked next to him. (Id.)

All three friends – Mr. Haggood, Mr. Frazier and Mr. Benjamin – had weapons with them. Mr. Haggood had placed his .40 caliber in the glove box, Mr. Frazier had a .32 caliber revolver and he believed Mr. Benjamin had a .45 caliber pistol. (Transcript p. 272). Mr. Haggood locked his gun in the glove box and Mr. Benjamin and Mr. Frazier placed their weapons in the trunk. (Id.) None took weapons into the club.

When they arrived, there were not that many cars there and not many people inside. (Transcript p. 272-273). Inside, there were people on the dance floor but

“nothing major.” (Transcript p. 273). There was an open liquor bar (free to patrons) but people had to pay for beers. (Id.). Mr. Haggood said he believed Mr. Frazier was drinking the free liquor but was unsure if Mr. Benjamin was drinking. (Id.) Mr. Haggood was drinking beer. (Transcript p. 274).

### *The Incident Inside the Club*

The club eventually started to fill up as more people arrived and the three were basically “hanging out” together. (Transcript p. 274). Andrew Haynes (called “Bubba”) was one of the DJs working at the club that evening along with “DJ Mike” (Michael Bullock). (Transcript p. 127-128). Mr. Haynes said he arrived between 11 p.m. and 11:30 p.m. and “brought a crowd with me” when he arrived. (Transcript p. 131).

Already at the club was Dominique Lawton. At some point, Mr. Haynes observed that Mr. Lawton “bumped” Mr. Benjamin on the dance floor and there were words exchanged and “a little shoving” but no punches were thrown and no weapons were displayed. (Transcript p. 132). Mr. Haynes said he intervened and stopped the episode from escalating. (Transcript p. 131). He said Mr. Lawton appeared intoxicated. (Transcript p. 132).

Mr. Haynes talked to both parties and calmed everyone down. (Transcript p. 133). Antonio Gidron was also in the club at the time of the incident. He did not describe it as an altercation. (Transcript p. 558). He spoke with Mr. Benjamin after

the incident and said Mr. Benjamin told him “you are down here, you know, to have fun. We don’t want no problems.” (Transcript p. 572). Mr. Gidron said he knew Mr. Lawton and told Mr. Benjamin, “I’ll handle it.” (Id.) Mr. Gidron then went over to talk with Mr. Lawton, asked what was going on, and Mr. Lawton told him “it ain’t nothing.” (Transcript p. 558) Mr. Gidron told Mr. Lawton that Mr. Benjamin was one of his friends and that “they don’t want no problem” and that Mr. Lawton calmed down and “thought nothing of it. He let it be.” (Id.)

Inside the club, Mr. Haggood said Mr. Benjamin pointed at presumably Mr. Lawton and another that had been involved and said that he thought one of them had a gun. (Transcript p. 275). Mr. Haggood asked Mr. Benjamin what he wanted to do and Mr. Benjamin replied that he did not want to get caught “slipping.” (Transcript p. 276). Mr. Haggood testified he believed that to mean that Mr. Benjamin wanted to get his gun. (Id.) Mr. Frazier was on the dance floor and so the three went out to Mr. Haggood’s car and retrieved their weapons. (Transcript p. 277).

Mr. Gidron said he had seen people with guns at the club “all the time” prior to this incident. (Transcript p. 560). Mr. Haynes had noticed the three leave the club and so followed them to continue to talk to them and keep everyone calm. (Id.) He knew Mr. Frazier from high school because he had played basketball against him. (Id.) He said he met them as they were coming back into the club.

(Transcript p. 134). He speculated that it appeared the three were coming from the area where cars are normally parked but could not say for sure. (Transcript p. 134-135).

Mr. Haynes had a brief conversation with Mr. Benjamin and suggested that he should not bother getting involved with Mr. Lawton (whose nickname is "Killa") because "he's young, drunk, you know how they get." (Transcript p. 135). He said Mr. Benjamin replied "I'm killa" and they walked back into the club. (Transcript p. 136). Mr. Haynes also spoke to Mr. Lawton and told him to calm down as well "because it's not called for." (Transcript p. 135). Mr. Haynes said he did not see any of the three with weapons as they went back inside and he went in behind them.

Mr. James Hampton, one of the injured victims, arrived at the club between 12:30 a.m. and 1 a.m. and learned after arriving that there had been a confrontation involving Mr. Lawton. (Transcript p. 204, 205). He went to speak with Mr. Lawton and told him to "chill." (Transcript p. 205). He said Mr. Lawton was calm at that point. (Id.) Mr. Hampton did not know Mr. Benjamin or Mr. Haggood but knew Mr. Frazier. (Transcript p. 203). He said someone pointed out Mr. Benjamin as the person involved in the confrontation with Mr. Lawton. (Transcript p. 205).

After that, there were no problems during the more than two hours from the time of the incident until the club closed down. (Transcript p. 137). It was, as Mr. Haggood described it, “a normal club environment. Nothing going on really other than music, dancing and just people talking and everything. Nothing negative was going on.” (Transcript p. 278). People continued to drink. (Id.) Mr. Haynes said it was about 2 a.m. or 2:30 a.m. when “the crowd was getting kind of iffy” and so he suggested to the club manager to begin shutting the party down. (Transcript p. 137).

It was sometime later that the DJs stopped playing music and the lights came up indicating the party was shutting down. (Transcript p. 279). Shawn DeFreitas, also known as Shawn Cooper, testified he arrived at the club around 3 a.m. and paid and went inside, spending some time talking to some people. (Transcript p. 317-318). He said about an hour later, the club was closing down so he left. (Id.)

When the lights came up and the music stopped playing, Mr. Haggood, who was near the pool table by the front door, simply left and went outside. (Transcript p. 279). He said Mr. Frazier and Mr. Benjamin were both near the dance floor area. (Id.) He was outside talking with a female friend he knew from high school and saw Mr. Benjamin and Mr. Frazier exit the club. (Transcript p. 280).

### *Shots Are Fired*

“As soon as they got outside the door, somebody (later identified as the victim Mr. Lawton) pulled out a gun and discharged a round,” Mr. Haggood said. (Transcript p. 280). Mr. Lawton was the aggressor outside, according to Mr. Haggood. (Transcript p. 304). “I guess you could say [it was] like an ambush type thing. He (Mr. Lawton) came out of nowhere. It wasn’t provoked or anything. Once he walked up, he pulled out his gun, it wasn’t anything said before he pulled out his gun.” (Id.)

There was chatter going back and forth between Mr. Frazier and some people with him and Mr. Lawton and his friends. (Transcript p. 211-212). Mr. Gidron said he saw something “like a pep rally or something” and “everybody just swarmed in.” (Transcript p. 560). He said he saw Mr. Lawton with a gun in his waistband. (Id.)

At one point, Mr. Gidron heard someone say “he got a gun” but did not recognize the voice and did not know to whom the voice was referring. Shortly thereafter, Gidron saw Mr. Frazier with his gun out. (Transcript, p. 561). Mr. Frazier’s gun at that point was not in the air but rather pointed downward near his waist. (Transcript p. 212). After that, Mr. Haggood said, “it was just like everything became chaotic, like people arguing and everything and people trying to separate everything.” (Transcript p. 282). Mr. Haynes said somebody ran back

into the club and told him there was a commotion outside the club. Haynes went to investigate and saw 25 to 30 people outside by the door and saw Mr. Frazier holding a silver revolver in the air. (Transcript p. 138-139).

Mr. Hampton was also outside and saw Mr. Frazier holding his gun in the air and heard him saying, "All we want to do is go home!" (Transcript p. 207). He said there was "a lot of chatter." (Transcript p. 209). Mr. Haggood heard the same thing: "I'm just trying to get home. I'm just trying to get home. I don't want any trouble." (Transcript p. 282). Mr. Gidron said he heard Mr. Frazier say, "man, please, we just want to go home ... we don't want no problem." (Transcript p. 561). Mr. DeFreitas said he saw an altercation breakout "with some of the people I knew" and so he went back from his car to try to break it up. (Transcript p. 318). He saw Mr. Frazier and Mr. Lawton right at the door with perhaps a dozen people around. (Transcript p. 318-319).

Mr. Haynes had stepped in to try to break up the confrontation as well and he and Mr. Benjamin and Mr. Haggood were trying to "usher" Mr. Frazier toward Mr. Haggood's car. (Transcript p. 139; 283). Mr. Haggood had tried to step in but Mr. Benjamin interceded and touched him on the shoulder and said "just fall back. Chill out." (Transcript p. 282). Mr. Haynes said he was focused on Mr. Frazier and was not paying much attention to anything else. (Transcript p. 139). Mr.

DeFreitas was also with this group trying to get Mr. Frazier back to Mr. Haggood's car. (Transcript p. 319).

The group finally got back to Mr. Haggood's car and Mr. Haynes said this was the point where Mr. Frazier fired his revolver into the air. (Transcript p. 139; 212-213). Mr. DeFreitas said "shots just started firing" after that and he got hit in the leg and "went down." (Transcript p. 321). He had no idea who fired the first shots. (Transcript p. 329). Mr. Haynes ran after the shots started and took cover by the door to the club near the van and ultimately retreated inside. (Transcript p. 144). Mr. Haggood said he heard the first shots before Mr. Frazier fired and in fact it was even before they reached his car. (Transcript p. 284).

"They started shooting," he said, "and then it was like everybody was scattering." (Transcript p. 284). He said he could not tell where the initial shots came from but believed they came from an area near the road. (Id.) It was after that point when Mr. Benjamin pulled out his gun "and let off about two shots." (Transcript p. 285). He said Mr. Benjamin's shots were fired "like [in] the direction of the car that was in front of mine." (Id.) Mr. Benjamin was still moving when that was happening. (Id.)

Mr. Haggood said somebody was firing from behind the van (which was parked near the club) and that it seemed people were "shooting like from different directions" so he took cover towards the rear of his car. (Transcript p. 287). He

pulled out his .40 caliber and shot back. (Id.) Haggood said he shot “three or four shots” back in the direction of the van. (Transcript p. 288).

Mr. Haggood described the gunfire as “enemy fire” based on his experience as a combat soldier. (Transcript p. 303). He said the first shot was not fired by Mr. Frazier or Mr. Benjamin. (Transcript p. 306). “Once the first shot came out it was like shots from everywhere.” (Id.) “Like I guess you could say people already had their guns on them in the parking lot” before Mr. Frazier fired his weapon into the air. (Id.)

When Mr. Benjamin was initially moving from one location seeking cover near Mr. Haggood’s car, his shots were fired with his arm extended at a downward angle equivalent to “cover fire” used to provide a chance to rally a group of people into a safe place. (Transcript p. 307). Mr. Haggood never saw Mr. Benjamin shoot anyone and was “on the move” when the rounds were discharged. (Transcript p. 308).

When Mr. Hampton saw Mr. Frazier fire into the air, he turned and walked away back towards the road. He said then more shots were fired and he could “feel the bullet coming past my own head” so he ducked for cover behind the van and went the other way. (Transcript p. 213). He said the shots he believed came from behind him. He never saw Mr. Benjamin shooting. (Transcript p. 214).

He said once he ducked behind the van and heading in the opposite direction he started hearing yelling and someone saying, "Killa get up!" (Transcript p. 214). He ran over to where it was coming from and saw Mr. Lawton on the ground and that he had been shot in the head. (Transcript p. 215-216). He said he then ran back to the club, picked up a pole out of the ground and threw it at a car. (Transcript p. 216). Mr. DeFreitas said he had no idea who fired the shots that killed Mr. Lawton. (Transcript p. 332).

Daniel Saxon arrived at the club about 3:15 a.m. and said he could not hear any gunfire when he got there but also said he had his music on in the car with the windows up. (Transcript p. 343). He was in his car and saw Mr. Lawton at one point come around to the front of his vehicle on the driver's side. He said Mr. Lawton was "kind of agitated." (Id.) Mr. Saxon got out of his vehicle and tried to calm him down. (Id.)

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