**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**Appeal from Calhoun County  
Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2013-001496**

---

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

**vs.**

**DAVID J. BENJAMIN,**

**Appellant.**

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305**

**DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.  
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit  
PO Box 1525  
Orangeburg, SC 29116

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

first arrived at Piggy Park. Benjamin and Frazier left a .45 and a .32, respectively, in the trunk of the car and Haggood left his .40 in his car when they initially went into Piggy Park. Following the incident between Benjamin and Dominique on the dance floor, however, *Benjamin* told Haggood that there had been an incident. Also, he pointed out two individuals that he thought Haggood needed to look out for because one person had a book bag and the other one was reaching inside the bag. Benjamin thought that one of them had a gun. **Tr. pp. 273-75; 278.**

*Benjamin* “was kind of agitated,” and Haggood asked him what he wanted to do. *Benjamin* said that “he wasn't trying to get caught slipping,” meaning that he wanted to get his gun. So, the three defendants went to the car and each man armed himself. Benjamin and Haggood stuck their weapons in their waistband, but Frazer put his .32 in his pocket. This was an hour and a half to two hours after the first got to the club and they went back inside once they were armed with their guns. **Tr. pp. 275-78.**

Mr. Haynes corroborated this, in part. He testified that when he went outside to speak to Benjamin, Haggood, Benjamin, and Frazier were coming in and appeared to have gone to their car. Moreover, Mr. Haynes spoke with the Benjamin and tried to persuade Benjamin to ignore the young, intoxicated “Killa,” a/k/a Dominique. However, Benjamin’s only response was, “ ‘I'm a killer.’ ” Consciously armed and prepared to kill, he and his co-defendants then returned to the club. **Tr. pp. 133-35; 149; 151-52.**

Haggood testified that he later saw Benjamin shooting the .45 caliber semi-automatic pistol that he had seen this defendant with “a few times” prior to this night. **Tr. p. 267.** Benjamin pulled out his .45, “outstretched [his] arm like downward ... from the waist” and began shooting in the direction of the car in front of Haggood’s car (which was Shawn DeFreitas’ car). Benjamin was at the passenger side corner when he began but continued moving as he shot. **Tr. pp. 284-**

**86; 303; 310-12.** Shawn DeFreitas also testified that he saw “Benjamin shooting towards the opposite side of the club,” after he had been wounded. **Tr. pp. 324-25.** Respondent submits that this testimony has him firing in the direction of where the victim was ultimately hit.

Further, the forensic evidence corroborated the testimony of Hampton, Haggood and DeFreitas as to Benjamin’s location when the victim was murdered because there were five .45 caliber shell casings (State’s Exhibits 42-46) and three .40 caliber shell casings (State’s Exhibits 47-49) found in the grass and gravel in the right corner area of the club, which is consistent with witnesses’ testimony of the location of the defendants’ vehicle. Also, three, fired .45 caliber bullets (State’s Exhibits 57-59) were found approximately 7’-8’ – or approximately a car length, in front of where the victim had been. The .45 shell casings were all fired by the same weapon. Three fired bullets (State’s Exhibits 57-59) were “consistent with being a .45 auto or a .45 gap caliber cartridges” and they were consistent with the type of bullets that would have come out of the five shell casings introduced as State’s Exhibits 42-46. Two of those bullets were fired by the same weapon. **Tr. pp. 371-76; 395-96; 494-98.**<sup>34</sup>

Additionally, there was expert testimony that the gunshot residue testing from Haggood’s car reflected that a gun was fired between six and ten feet from the front and back of the driver’s side of the car, with either the doors open or the windows rolled down at the time. **Tr. pp. 464-68.** Again, this is consistent with Benjamin’s location at the time that the victim was shot.

Several other pieces of circumstantial evidence likewise support the trial judge’s denial of Benjamin’s motion for a directed verdict on the murder charge. Dominique was only a few feet

---

<sup>34</sup> What is colloquially called a bullet is actually a cartridge, consisting of four parts: a lead bullet, smokeless powder, a brass casing and a primer. *Pistol Cartridge Basics*, Ultimate Reloader <http://ultimatereloader.com/reloading-101/pistol-cartridge-basics/>. (Last visited July 18, 2014). When a semi-automatic pistol is fired, the pistol’s hammer strikes the primer, which ignites the smokeless powder, which then propels the bullet out of the firearm’s muzzle. The momentum causes the now-empty brass casing to be ejected from the side of the gun and a fresh cartridge moves into the chamber. *Id.* See also **Tr. pp. 480-82.**

from Mr. Saxon when he was shot in the head. While Mr. Saxon did not see who shot his friend, it was obviously not the person who shot into the air, Frazier. Also, the three, fired .45 caliber bullets were found near where Saxon's Cadillac was parked and near the victim. A reasonable inference from this evidence is that the person with the .45, Benjamin, killed Dominique.

Moreover, as the group fled the scene in Haggood's car, Frazier said that he had fired in the air and he asked his friends if either of them had to shoot. Benjamin's response was to the effect that he had not shot into the air because he was not going to waste bullets. **Tr. pp. 290-92.**

Further, the witnesses present when the shooting began testified that the scene was "chaotic," with people screaming, scattering, ducking and running for cover. **Tr. p. 151; 234; 282; 303; 321; 332; 334; 343.** It remained that way for some time because Deputy Snead, the first responding officer, testified that the scene was still "kind of chaotic" when he arrived roughly thirty minutes later. **Tr. p. 112, lines 8-16.** However, no witness testified that he or she saw ducking, panicking, or running by Benjamin, Haggood or Frazier. This is hardly surprising, since their vehicle did not have any bullet holes in it; there were no bullet marks on the building in the area where their car was parked; and the bullet which came closest to them struck the rear of Pinckney's car.<sup>35</sup> **Tr. pp. 292-97; 383; 401-03; State's Exhibits 7-10.**

Likewise, there is the obvious evidence of Benjamin's flight from the scene, in an effort to elude capture. *See State v. Pagan*, 357 S.C. 132, 591 S.E.2d 646 (2003) (evidence of flight constitutes evidence of defendant's guilty knowledge and intent); *State v. Grant*, 275 S.C. 404, 407, 272 S.E.2d 169, 171 (1980) ("[A]ttempts to run away have always been regarded as some evidence of guilty knowledge and intent") (citation omitted); *State v. Crawford*, 362 S.C. 627,

---

<sup>35</sup> Respondent submits that a reasonable inference is that this bullet was fired after the victim had been mortally wounded in the head.

634-36, 608 S.E.2d 886, 890-91 (Ct. App. 2005).<sup>36</sup>

Respondent would note that the State's failure to introduce the weapon with which Bostick allegedly had beat the victim in the head was one of the reasons that the Court in *Bostick* relied upon for finding that the trial judge should have granted a directed verdict. *Bostick*, 392 S.C. at 141-42, 708 S.E.2d at 778. Here, however, the State's inability to locate the weapon that Benjamin had and fired on September 18, 2011, constituted additional circumstantial evidence of his guilt. The State was able to obtain the victim's .380 and the State obtained the weapons of both co-defendants. The only weapon that was secreted, destroyed, sold, or otherwise disposed of was Benjamin's .45, which the State's theorized was the murder weapon. His act of disposing of the weapon after Haggood told him that law enforcement was looking for him, even though he had been previously seen carrying it "a few times," was circumstantial evidence of his guilt. *See State v. Southerland*, 316 S.C. 377, 383, 447 S.E.2d 862, 866 (1994) (evidence showing that defendant possessed a shotgun at the time of the murder, that the shotgun was the type used to kill victim, and that defendant disposed of the shotgun after the murder in exchange for cocaine was properly admitted because it established identity and a common scheme), *overruled on other grds.*, *State v. Chapman*, 317 S.C. 302, 454 S.E.2d 317 (1995) (requesting a *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), hearing in effect sets out *prima facie* case of discrimination, warranting *Batson* hearing); *Guevara v. State*, 152 S.W.3d 45, 50 (Tex.Crim.App. 2004) (defendant's attempt to conceal evidence is a circumstance of guilt).

---

<sup>36</sup> "This common law rule is based on ordinary human experience that echoes its often-quoted Biblical antecedent: 'The wicked flee where no man pursueth; but the righteous are bold as a lion.' Proverbs 28:1." *Ordway v. Com.*, 391 S.W.3d 762, 790 (Ky. 2013). *See also* 2 Wigmore, *Evidence* § 276 (Supp. 2007). Contrary to the evidence in *Odems*, where a witness offered a plausible alternative reason for Odems fleeing the scene of his arrest in the State's case-in-chief – *i.e.*, that he wished to avoid trouble because the driver told him that the driver did not have a license, *see Odems*, 395 S.C. at 585, 589-90, 720 S.E.2d at 49, 52 - there was no such plausible explanation here. Instead, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the only *reasonable* inference is that Benjamin fled because he knew that he would otherwise be arrested for the crimes he and his co-defendant Haggood committed that morning.

Benjamin references the testimony of defense witness Antonio Gidron in support of the present argument. However, Gidron did not testify for the prosecution and his testimony did not supplement or augment the State's case. As such, it would be inappropriate to consider Gidron's testimony in connection with the trial judge's denial of Benjamin's directed verdict motion. *Accord State v. Hepburn*, 406 S.C. 416, 433-36, 753 S.E.2d 402, 411-13 (2013) (explaining that when the defendant's evidence "does not provide any gap-filling evidence for the government's case, then a reviewing court need not consider that testimony" on review of the denial of a directed verdict motion).<sup>37</sup> In light of the prosecution's evidence, Benjamin was not entitled to a directed verdict for murdering Dominique.

Benjamin likewise was not entitled to a directed verdict for the attempted murders of Shawn DeFreitas or James Hampton. While the State's theory at trial was that Benjamin, personally, shot DeFreitas, he could be convicted under principles of accomplice liability for either of these crimes (and unquestionably for the attempted murder of Hampton), a principle on which the trial judge charged Benjamin's jury. In *State v. Reid*, \_\_\_ S.C. \_\_\_, \_\_\_, 758 S.E.2d 904, 910 (2014), the Supreme Court recently explained that:

The doctrine of accomplice liability arises from the theory that "the hand of one is the hand of all." 23 S.C. Jur. *Homicide* § 22.1 (2014). Under this theory, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose. *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010). A person must personally commit the crime or be present at the scene of the crime and intentionally, or through a common design, aid, abet, or assist in the commission of that crime through some overt act to be guilty under a theory of accomplice liability. *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 648-49, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999). Accordingly, proof of mere presence is insufficient, and the State must present evidence the participant knew of the principal's criminal conduct. *State v.*

---

<sup>37</sup> Additionally, Gidron's testimony was highly suspect and readily impeached by the State because he never went to law enforcement with his version about what occurred and he had admittedly been drinking since approximately 8:00 p.m. Yet, Gidron was able to "remember" every detail of the shooting when the shooting did not occur until after 3:00 a.m. **Tr. pp. 568-81; 622; 642-44.**

*Leonard*, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 272 (1987). If “a person was ‘present abetting while any act necessary to constitute the offense [was] being performed through another,’ he could be charged as a principal—even ‘though [that act was] not the whole thing necessary.’ ” *Rosemond v. United States*, — U.S. —, 134 S.Ct. 1240, 1246, 188 L.Ed.2d 248 (2014) (alteration in original) (quoting 1 J. Bishop, *Commentaries on the Criminal Law* § 649, p. 392 (7th ed. 1882)).

See also *State v. Hill*, 268 S.C. 390, 395–96, 234 S.E.2d 219, 221 (1977) (“presence at the scene of a crime by pre-arrangement to aid, encourage, or abet in the perpetration of the crime constitutes guilt as a principal”). “In order to establish the parties agreed to achieve an illegal purpose, thereby establishing presence by pre-arrangement, the State need not prove a formal expressed agreement, but rather can prove the same by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties.” *State v. Gibson*, 390 S.C. 347, 354, 701 S.E.2d 766, 770 (Ct.App. 2010).<sup>38</sup>

Initially, Respondent submits that Benjamin did not argue in the trial court that the prosecution “[f]ailed to prove Defendant Benjamin joined with another in carrying out a common plan or purpose” to commit murder and/or attempted murder. He likewise did not argue that the State “[f]ailed to prove Defendant Benjamin was present at the scene as a result of a prior arrangement to carry out a prior arranged plan or common scheme sufficient to find Defendant Benjamin guilty under an accomplice liability theory in the wounding of Hampton and Defreitas or the killing of Lawton.” Rather, he argued that the timeline established by

---

<sup>38</sup> “It is well-settled that a defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him only with the principal offense.” *State v. Dickman*, 341 S.C. 293, 295, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2000). See also *State v. Fley*, 2 Brev. 338, 345, 1809 WL 338, 6 (S.C.Const. App. 1809) (“It is very clear that *a person aiding and assisting another in committing a murder, is to be regarded as a principal*, and that he may be indicted and punished, although the principal who really gave the mortal blow, or was otherwise the immediate instrument by which the murder was effected, had not been taken. The immediate injury, from which death ensues, is considered as proceeding from all who are present and abetting the injury done, and the actual perpetrator is considered as the agent of his associates. His act is their act, as well as his own; and all are equally criminal. Fost. 351. *The distinction between principals in the first and second degree has been exploded. It is now a distinction without a difference*”) (emphasis added).

DeFreitas established that DeFreitas was shot before Frazier fired shots into the air and the State's other evidence was that Benjamin did not shoot until after Frazier fired into the air. He also argued that he would be unduly prejudiced by submission of an accomplice liability instruction for the attempted murder of Hampton because Haggood had admitted shooting Hampton. **Tr. p. 539, line 4 – p. 540, line 8.** Because Benjamin did not present these arguments to the trial judge and obtain a ruling on them from her, these arguments are not properly before this Court on direct appeal. *See State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“A party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal”). *See also State v. Byram*, 326 S.C. 107, 485 S.E.2d 360 (1997) (same); *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct.App. 1996) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court”); *State v. Vanderbilt*, 287 S.C. 597, 340 S.E.2d 543 (1986) (“Issues not properly preserved at trial may not be raised for the first time on appeal. To the extent that *State v. Griffin*, [129 S.C. 200, 124 S.E. 81 (1924)], may be inconsistent with this result it is overruled”). *See also State v. Sullivan*, 277 S.C. 35, 45, 282 S.E.2d 838, 844 (1981) (“Appellants did not make a contemporaneous objection to this testimony and have waived their right to assert any error on appeal”); *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (an objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error).

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